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Dell Corporation Limited
STRATEGIC REPORT

The directors present their strategic report on the company for the financial year ended 3 February 2023

Principal activities

The company's principal activity throughout the financial year was the marketing and distribution of
informaltion technology infrastructure under limited risk distribulor agreements with other group companies,
The Cempany also provides certain services for both group companies and third party customers.

The company is a member of the Dell Technologies Inc group {"Dell Technologies"), which is a strategically
aligned family of businesses that offers a broad range of technology solutions, and is poised 1o become the
essenlial infrastructure company both glotally and here in the UK, as we continue cur mission to advance
human progress through effective use of technology.

The company is commitled to its customers — from global multinationals fo our extended panner network
across the UK. As we innovate to make our customers increasingly more productive through the use of
technoleogy, we are also {noking to support them succeed in the digital econemy developing around us. We are
differentiatec by practical innovation and efficient, simple, and affordable solutions.

Dell Technologies is committed to driving human progress by putting our technology and expertise to waork
where it can do the most good for both people and the planet, We recognize that all of our stakeholders —
shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, and communities — as well as the environment and society,
are essential to our business.

Dell Technologies is committed to progreéssing towards the goals set forth in our plan for 2030 and beyond
(our "2030 Goals"). Qur 2030 Goais represent an exlension of our purpose as a company and have four
critical areas of focus:

. Advancing Sustainability
. Cultivating Inclusion

. Transforming Lives

. Upholding Trust

In its operations, the Company considers the labor and environmentai legislative framework cf the country.
The Company considers that it meets the requirements of such iaws and that it carries out proceduras
dasigned to encourage compliance and ensure that such requirements are met.

Future developments
Both the tevel of business and the year-and financial position were satisfaclory, and the directors axpect thal
the present level of activity will be sustained for the foreseeable future.

Key performance indicators

2023 2022 % change|

£000 £000
Reverue 3.503,501 3,138,281 12%
Gross profit 479,395 453,486 6%
Gross margin 14 % 14 % —%
Operatinjﬂoﬂt 63,247 57,348 10%
Profit after tax 67.729 B6,521 122%)
Eaquity sharahoiders’ funds 71,182 113,230 (7%}
Average number of employees 2.213 2,220 —%

Revenue increased by £365m vear on year caused by strong performance in infrastructure solutions group.
Infrastructure solutions group revenue increased primatily as a result of continued revenue growth within both
our servers and networking and storage offerings.

On 18 Octaber 2022, the directors proposed and the shareholder declared a dividend of £100m. The dividend
was paid to the immediate parent company, EMC Information Systems International Uniimited Company
(2022: £110m),
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STRATEGIC REPORT - continuad

Going concern

The directors have considered the basis of preparation of the financial statemants for the year snded
3 February 2023. The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the company is a going
concern. The company meels ils day-io-day working capital requirements through net cash inflow from
operations, cash resources and, if required, interccmpany financing.

The balance sheet shows that the company has net assets of £71m (2022: £113m) and net current liabililies
of £322m (2022: liabilities of £(140)m} at year-end.

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, the directors have faken into account al
available infarmation up to 31 October 2024, being at least 12 months tollowing the approval of these financial
staterments. The company's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in
trading performance, show that the company should be able tc continue 1o operate within the level of its
current arrangements. The directors are saltisfied that a parent undertaking has indicated its intent 1o provide
the necessary financial support to enable the company to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due, if
required. After making all necessary enquirtas, the directars have a reasonable expectation thal the company
has adeguate resources o continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore, these
financial statements have been preparad on a going concern basis,

Post balance sheet events

On 20 October 2023, the directors preposed and the shareholder declared a dividend of £69m. The dividend
was approved (o be paid to the parent company, EMC Information Systems International Unlimited Company
(2022: £100m).

On the 11 August 2023, Gell Corporation Limited acquired the assets, liabilities and trade of Moogsoft Limited
in the amount of circa £2m.

There have been no other significant events affecting the company since the year-end.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Due to the nature of the company's business arrangements, the directors believe that risk attributable to
foreign exchange, interest rates, credit and cash flow is minimal. The vultimate parent company, Dell
Technologies Inc., has appropriale risk management programmes In place to manage any such risks that may
arise.

Ukralne War

We are monitoring and responding to effects of the ongoing war in Ukraine. When Russia invaded Ukraine,
Dell Tachnolcgies made the decision to not sell, service, or support products in Russia, Belarus, and restricted
regions of Ukraine. During Fiscal 2023, DELL has resumed product sales to non-sanclioned areas in Ukraine,
focusing on praviding progucts and support to Ukrainian customers as they rebuild infrastructure and restore
businesses and the finrancia! secter.

The war and the related economic sanctions are impacting markets woridwide. Our business may be
adversely affected by effects of the war and such sanctions, including supply chain disruptions, product
shipping delays, macroeconomic impacts resulting from the exclusion of Russian financial institutions from the
global banking system, volatility in foreign exchange rates and interest rates, inflationary pressures, and
heightened cybersecurity and data theft threats. The full impact of the war on our business operations and
financial performance will depend on future developmenis. We will cantinue to monitor and assess the related
restrictions and other efiects and pursue prudent decisions for our ieam members, customers, and business.
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Section 172 (1) statement

From the perspective of the beard, the directors are satigfied that the matters which it is responsible for
considering under Secticn 172 (1) of the Companies Act 2006 ('s172) have been considered o an
appropriate extent. These include addressing:

» the issues, faclors and stakehoiders, the directors consider reigvant in camplying with section 172 (1)
{(a) to {f} and how they have formed that opinion;

+ the main methods the directors have used to engage with stakeholders and understand the issues to
which they must have regard,; and

+ infoermation on the effect of thal regard on the Company's decisions and strategies during the financial
year.

Tha Company is a whally owned subsidiary of EMC Information Systems Internationat Unlimited Comparny
and this is the company’s Immediate parent undertaking. Dell Technologies Inc., a corporation incorporated in
the United States of America, is the company's ultimate parent undertaking. The Company seeks to maintain
a reputation for high standards of business conduct with all stakeholders. The board of directors of Dell
Corporation Limited, together with the boards of its parent companies, are satisfied they have acted in the way
they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company far the benefit of its
members as a whole (having regard 1o the slakehciders and matters set outin s172(1)(a-f} of the Caompanies
Act, 2008) in the decisions taken during the year endad 3 February 2023 as follows:

Human Resources tManagement

At Dell Technolcgias, we are a diverse team with unique perspectives, united in our purpose, our strategy, and
our culture. Our geal is to ensure that employees of different backgrounds feel valued, engaged, and inspired
to do their best work, Through our ongoing diversity and inclusion efforis, flexible working environmants,
training and development offerings, and health and wellness resources for our empioyees, we are striving to
attract, develop, and retain an empowered workforce.

We seek to support Dell Technologies' culture in four key focus areas:

»  Diversity and Inclusion —Cultivating inclusion is a core compenent of our culture, and we believe that
closing the diversity gap is critical to mesting future falent needs and ensuring that new perspectives
refiect our global cusiomer base. We are committed to equal employment opportunity for all and
upholding ethics and integrity in all we do ang will continue to pursue inclusive policies that support
full-spectrum diversity.

* Achievement Through Learning, Development, and Total Rewards - We offer a compelitive and
comprehensive benefits package and strive to provide the best choice and value at the best cost. We
recognize and reward performance through awards aligned with business sirategy and ingdividual
objectives. Furthermare, we believe that equal pay is a business imgerative, and we are committed to
it. We provide a multitude of programs fo support employees' career growth and development.
Through this program, we offer formal training options, individualized development pragrams and
spensorship, lools for 360-degree feedback, mentoring, networking, stretch assignments, and growth
opportunities.

*  Balance and Wellness - Work flexibility is pari of our culture and remains a significant priority for us.
We have developed tools and a culture that pravide choice and flexibility to employees, the majority of
whom work in a hybrid environment. We support our employees’ weliness through a comprehensive
approach focused on mental, physical, and financial health, flexibility, and connection, We provide
weliness resources 1o help employees and their families develop and sustain healthy habits.

*  Conneclion and Engagement — \We believe that employee feedback is an important part of our
culture and how we drive our strategy. Through our annual Tell Dell survey, empioyees can
confidentially voice their perceptions of the Company and our leadarship, culturs, and inclusiveness
$0 that we can continue to improve the empioyee experience. Wa drive further employee engagement
and connection through a variety of initiatives including, but noi limited to, our team member listening
strategy and our Employee Resource Groups ("ERGs").

Employae engagemeint

The company's empioyment policies are aimed at informing, training and motivating all its employees.

The company has an effective system of internal communication that ensures employees are kept well
informed about the company's business. The Company uses a variety of methods to enable all of its
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Section 172 (1) statement - continued

Employoe engagement - corntinued

employees to understand the performance of the company and of their operating site. This is achieved
principally through a newsletter, mestings with employee representatives and regular staff briefings using the
company's management structure. Employees are consulted on a wide range of issues affecting their current
and future interests, and particularly on changes affecting their Company. Employee surveys are used to gain
valuable feedback. A quarterly management meeting and onward leam cascade process ensures that regular
business information is shared and two-way dialogue is encouraged for ail colleagues in all parts of the
Company. These processas ara subject to continual review and improvement. OQur employment policies are
regularly reviewed to epsure they are simple, helpful and irusied to enable an honest and transparent
employment culturs.

A robust induction procedure ensures communication and understanding of policies from day one and regular
updates are communicaled as required.

Equal opportunities

Dell Corperation Limited is opposed te all forms of unlawful and unfair discrimination, recegrising that the
provision of egual epportunities in the workplace is good management gractice and good business sense.
Equal opportunities means that those who work for us can reach their full potential. The Company is
committed to equality of opportunity amongst its employees. Recruitment, pay and conditions, training and
career development policies are based solely on ability, without regard to gender, race, age, disablement,
marital status or religion,

The company also gives every consideration, whenever practical, 1o the employment of disabled persons and
has made, and will continue to make, every effort to retrain and assist any employee who becomes disabled
during kis or her employment.

Learning and development

Dell Corgoration Limited are committed to ensuring that all colleagues are provided with the nscessary
training to enable them to perform their roles safely, to the highest standards and in accordance with relevant
Company policy and procedures. We ensure that appropriste documentation and procedures exist to support
a regular review of training needs ang delivery of appropriate training and development activities. Succession
Planring ensures that colleague performance and potential can be realised through targeted development
activity. Mandatory development is planned o ensure compliance with relevant statutory obligations.

Health and safety

Deill Technologiss' Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) program is managed through the globg)
Environment, Health and Safety (EHS) organization, made up of health and safety professionals and experis.
Dell Technologies' OHS policy is availabie on our public web page. Additionat policies, procedures, tools and
other documents are managed at the global, regional, country and/or local levels as necessary to meet the
program needs. The EHS organization partners with each internal business to develop tools, programs and
processes 10 manage and meet program goals. Team members are encouraged to identify OH&S
improvement opportunities and c¢an report these through a number of mechanisms.

Dell Technologies' manufacturing cperations are certified to 1ISO 45001 (OH&S management system
standard) and are regularly assessed for compliance to the RBA's requirements.

Key OH&S metrics are regularly measured and reported throughout Dell Technologies” management chain.
injuries and near-misses are documented and investigated through a formal process that resulis in corrective
action implementation. Dell's OH&S injury and iliness rates are consistently very low.

CGommunity involverment
The Company endeavours to be a ‘good neighbour' in positively exercising its responsibilities towards the
wider community.

Ethical trading

Deil Technologies Code of Conduct, "How We Win,” provides guidance on how to carry out our daily activities
across Dell Technologies in accordance with cur culture and values, as well as in compliance with the letter
and spirit of all appticable laws, Our Code applies to all of us. Everyone must adhere to the Dell Technalogies'
Code, and the policies and standards, which fiow from our Code. Qur [eaders have a special responsibility to
lead with integrity and in ways that protect and enhance the reputation of Dell Technolegies.
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Section 172 (1) statement - continued

Ethical trading - continued

Dell Technologies is commitled to responsible business practices and ethical behaviour. This includes holding
our partners and suppliers to the same high standards of exceltence to which we adhere, as set forth in Dell
Technologies' Code of Conduct, and as anticulated in governing laws and regulations, recognised international
standards and conventions, and global best practices. Complying with Deil Technologies Supplier Principles
and with Dell Technologies Partner Code of Conduct is a condition of doing business with Dell Technologies.

Dell Technologies is proud to be a founding member of Responsible Busingss Alliance ("RBA"). The RBA
Code of Conduct establishes standards for safe, responsibie, ethical, and sustainabie business operations in
wliich workers are Ueated with respect and dignity.

Environmental responsibility

We believe we have a responsibility to protect and enrich our planet together with our customers, suppliers,
and communities. We continue to prioritize sustainability across our business ecosystem, valuing naturat
resgurces and seeking to minimize our impact. With the power of our global supply chain, Dell Techneologies
pursues the highest standards of sustainability and ethical practices.

We are creating a more sustainable future through these focus areas:

— Taking action on climate change: We are creating innovative, sustainable technology and solutions to
help our customers improve business outcomes and reduce emissions, while we take action on
ambitious climate targets that benefit society and the planet. By 2050, we will deliver on our goal to
achieve net zero greenhouse gas {GHG) emissicns across scopes 1, 2 and 3. By 2030, we will
reduce GHG emissions across scopes 1 and 2 by 50%, and for scope 3 by 45% from purchased
goods and services and 30% from the use of sold products.

— Acceterating the circular economy: We are driving circular innovation in design, manufacturing,
sustainable materials and services, and partnering with others to dramatically reduce global waste
and environmental impact on our planet and society. We are harnessing our unique size, scale and
reach to redesign, reuse, and recycle our end-to-end technology, aiming for a future where nothing
goes to waste.

— Championing social and environmental responsibility (SER) across our supply chain: With the power
of our global supply chain, we have the scale and ability to drive responsible manufacturing. We insist
upon ethical practices, respect, and dignity for everyone crealing our products, and the adoption of
responsible practices to minimize environmental impact. We partner with many of our suppliers to
help them develop the necessary insights and capabilities, reinforced by a comprehensive assurance
program — including audits — that accelerates and mainlains improvements.

DUl

By order of the board

S Young

20 October 2023



Dell Corporation Limited
DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors prezent their repor and the financial statements of the company for the financial year ended
3 February 2023.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 "The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and freland” ("FRS 101,

Principal activities

The company's principal activily throughout the financial year was the marketing and distribution of
information technology infrastructure under limited risk distributor agreements with other group companias.
The Company also provides certain services for both group companies and third party custamers.

The company is @ meinbe of the Dell Technologies nc group ("Dell Technologies™), which is a strategically
aligned family of businesses that offers a broad range of technology solutions, and is peised to become the
essential infrastructure cempany both globaily and here in the UK, as we continue our mission to advance
human progress through effective use of technology.

The company is commitied to its customers — from global multinationals to our extended pariner network
across the UK. As we innovate to make our customers increasingly more productive through the use of
techneology, we ara also looking te suppert them succeed in the digital economy developing around us. We are
differentiated by practical innovaticn and efficient, simple, and affordable solutions.

Dell Technologies is committed 10 driving human progress by putting our technoiogy and expertise to work
where it can do the most good for both people and the planet. We recognize that all of our stakeholders —
shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, and communities — as well as tha environment and society,
are essential to our business.

Dell Technologies is committed to progressing towards the goals set forth in our plan for 2030 and beyong
(our “2030 Goals™). Our 2030 Goals represent an extension of our purpose as a company and have four
critical areas of focus:

. Advancing Sustainability
. Cultivating Inclusion

. Transfarming Lives

. Upholding Trust

in its operaticns, the Company considers the labor and environmental legisiative framewaork of the country,
The Company considers that it meets the requirerments of such taws and that it carries out procedures
designed {0 encaurage compliance and ensure that such requirements are met.

Statement of directors' responsibilities
The directars are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directars to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that iaw the
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and UK law}. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial stalements uniess
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs cf the company ant of the profit or
loss of the company for that period. In preparing the financial statemants, the direclors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them congistently;

+ state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been
followed, subject to any material depariures disciosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reascnable and prudent; and;

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adgequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any fime the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The diractors are also responsible for safeguarding the asseis of the company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for tha prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Directors and secretary
The names of the persons who are currently or were directors for the financial year ended 3 February 2023

are set out below. Unless indicated otherwise they served as directors for the entire financial year.

C Garia (appainted 8 Jun 2022)

T Hussain (apgpointed 28 Feb 2023)
S Young (appeinted 30 Jan 2023)
C Hyslop {appointed 30 Jan 2023}
R Rawcliffe (resigned 28 Feb 2023)
D Turbitt {resigned 27 Jan 2023)

8 Neymecz (resigned 29 Sep 2022)
R Pulls {1esiyied 08 Jun 2022)

No diractor held any interests in the share capital of the company at any time during the financial year and
since the financial year end.

Directors’ indemnities

Throughout the financial year and up to the point of the directors’ approval of the financial statements, the
company maintained liabitity insurance for its diractors and officers which is & qualifying third party indemnity
provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2008.

Results and dividends

Revenue increased by £365m year on year caused by strong performance in infrastructure solutions group.
Infrastructure solutions group revenue increased primarily as a result of continued revenue growth within both
our servers and networking and sterage offenngs.

On 18 Cclober 2022, the directors proposed and the shareholder declared a dividend of £100m. The dividend
was paid {0 the immediate parent company, EMC Information Systems International Unlimited Company
(2022: £110m).

Review of the business and future developments

The directors are satisfied with the growth in business during the financial year and they expect that the
present leve| of activity will be sustained for the foreseeable future.

Ukraine War

We are monitoring and responding to effects of the ongoing war in Ukraine. When Russia invaded Ukraine,
Pell Technologies made the decision to not sell, service, or support products in Russia, Belarus, and restricted
regicns of Ukraine. During Fiscai 2023, DELL has resurmed product sales to non-sanctioned areas in Likraine,
focusing on providing products and support to Ukrainian customers as they rebuild infrastructure and restore
businesses and the financial sector.

The war and the related economic sanctions ara impacting markets worldwide. Our business may bte
adversely affected by effects of the war and such sanctions, including supply chain disruptions, product
shipping deiays, macroeconomic impacts rasuiting from the exclusion of Russian financial institutions from the
global banking system, volatility in foreign exchange rates and intergst rates, inflationary pressures, and
heightened cybersecurity and data theft threats. The full impact of the war on cur business operations and
financial performance will depend on future developments. We will continue 1o manitor and assess the related
resirictions and other effects and pursue prudent decisions for our team mambers, customers, and business.

Empiloyees

Applications for employment by disabled persens are always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective
aptitudes and abilities of the applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every
efforl is made 1o ensure that their employment continues and the approgriate training is arranged. It is the
policy of the company that the training, career development and promotion of a disabled person should, as far
as possible, be identical to that of a person who does not suffer from a disability.
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Employees - continued

Continual communication with employees is achieved through various internal communications vehicles,
inclyding in-house newsletters, internal blogs and websites and briefing groups. In addition, the company
operates a Long Tarm Incentive Plan in which employees can contribute towards the creation of fong-term
shareholder value.

The health and safety of the company's employees and customers is of primary concern. It is therefore the
policy of the company to manage its affairs 50 as to avoid unnecessary and unacceptable risks to the health
and safety of its employees and customers.

Political and charitable donations
Charitable donations of £2,534,044 (2022: £1,311,803) were made by the company during the year. No
political donations or coniributions were made or expenditure incurred during the year (2022: £Nil).

Research and developmant
There were no research and development expenses as there were no research and development aclivities
during the year (2022: £Nil).

Financial risk management

The directors consicer that the key financial risks attributable to the company are foreign exchange, credit and
cash flow risk. These are reviewed and managed by the directors cn an ongoing basis in conjunction with
management of Dell Technologies Inc. who have appropriate risk management programmes in place.

Statement of engagement with suppliers, customers, and others in a business relationship with the
Company

The directors have regard o the heed to foster the company's business relationship with suppliers, customers
and gthers, and the effect of that ragard, including on principal decisicns taken by the company during the
financial year. Please refer o the company's Section 172(1) statement in the Strategic Report.

Disclosure of information to the auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that;
a) so far as the director is aware, thera is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is
unaware; and
b) the directors has laken ali the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is
aware of that information,

GCorporate Governance Statement

As a wholly owned subsidiary af Dell Technologies Inc.. the Company has chosen net {0 adopt and repont
against the Wates Corporale Governance Principles for Large Private Cempanies (*the Principles”). Whilst
we fully support the Principles, the Oirectors feel that they are less appropriate for the Company. To the extent
applicable 1o the company activities, the company's directors and management follow ils ulfimate parent
undertaking Dell Technologies Inc. corporate govemance guidelines and general approach to corporate
governance, which are available on its website hitps:/investors.delitachnologies.com/governance-documents.
The Board of Direclors of Delt Tachnologies Inc. ("Dell® and the “Group”) sets high standards for the Group's
dirsctors, officers and employees, and implicit in this philosophy is the imporlance of sound corperate
governance, Group-wide, Dell maintains a Code of Conduct, an Entity Governance Policy and a Delegation
of Authority Policy (together, the “Policies™) which are designed to ensure the effective governance of all Dell's
related undertakings, including the Company.

The Policies aim ta ensure effective decision-making to promote the Company's success for the leng term and
for the benefit of Dell Technologies and the Company's wider stakeholders by (i} providing checks and
balances on financial and other information, (i) encouraging constructive challenge to the Company's
management (in addition to advice and suppeort) and (iti) ensuring timely and high qualify information is
received by the Directors. There have been no departures from the Policies during the year.

Going concern

The directors have considered the basis of preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
3 February 2023. The financial slatements have been prepared on the basis that the company is a going
concern. The company meets its day-to-day working capital reguirements through net cash inflow from
operations, cash resources and, if required, intercompany financing.

10
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Going concern - continued

The balance sheet shows that the company has net assets of £71m (2022: £113m) and net current liabilities
of £322m (2022: habilities of £(140)m) al year-end.

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, the directors have taken into account all
availabie information up to 31 October 2024, being at least 12 months following the approval of these financial
statements. The company's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in
frading performance, show that the company should be able to continue to operate within the level of its
current arrangements. The directors are satisfied that a parent undertaking has indicated its intent to provide
the necessary financial support to enable the company to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due, if
required. After making all necessary enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeabie future. Therefore, these
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Company is following the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) guidelines to calculate and
report the emissions resulting from its operations in the United Kingdom.

Emissions reported are related to energy use in the Company's building and employees’ business travel. UK
Government GHG Conversion Emissions Faclors have been used io calculate Carbon Dioxide Emissions
based on Company's data coliected in both kWh for Electricity and Gas, fuel and mileage for vehicles used by
the Company to undertake necessary business travel.

2023 2022
Carbon dioxide emissions in Tonnes 3,054 2,788
Carbon dioxide emissions in Tonnes per sq. ft 0.0119 0.0108

Due to changes in scoping and methodology calculation this year, we have made adjusiments tc the previcus
year's figures so we can improve consistency and comparability between years as well as accuracy.

Climate action is a priority for Dell Technologies. We have set clear and ambitious GHG emissions targets to
reach by 2030, paving the way to achieve net zero emissions across scopes 1, 2 and 3 by 2050.

Post balance sheet events

On 20 October 2023, the directors proposed and the shareholder declared a dividend of £59m. The dividend
was approved to be paid to the parent company, EMC Information Systems Internaticnal Unlimited Company
(2022: £100m).

On the 11 August 2023, Dell Corparation Limited acquired the assets, liabilities and trade of Moogsoft Limited
in the amount of circa £2m.

There have been no other significant events affecting the company since the year-end.
Statutory auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Republic of lreland, have indicated their willingness to continue in
office.

L TAN

By order of the board
S Young

20 October 2023

11
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Dell
Corporation Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opiuion, Dell Corporatien Limited's financial statements:

» giveatrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 3 February 2c23 and of its profit for the
year then ended;

« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Diselosure Framework”, and
applicable law); and

+  have been prepared in accordance with the reqitiretents of the Companies Act 2006,
We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise:

s the balance sheet as at 3 February 2023;

s the profir and loss account for the year then ended;

= the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

+  the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies,

Basis for opinion

We conducted ouyr audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under E8As (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of aur repart. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our sudit
of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our ather
sthical responsibilities in accordance with these requivements,

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months fram when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

I auditing the financial statements, we have coucluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not alf future events or conditions can he predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the
vonipany's ability to continue as a going conceru.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the divectars with respect tc going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and
our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our apinion on the financial
statements daes not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

En connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is 1o read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we ideutify an apparent material
Inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a
material misatatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. It, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, wo arc
reguired to repoit that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the
UK Companics Act 20006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Comganies Act 2006 Tequires us alse to report certain
opinions and matters as deseribed below.
Strategic report and Direciors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic 1report
and Directors” Report for the year ended 3 February 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

[ light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did net identify any matevial misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisficd that they
give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal contrel as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of finaucial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as npplicuble, matters related to going cuncern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operaticns, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors” responsibifities for the audit of the financial statements

Our abjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whaole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
18As (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisiens of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Owr andit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data
auditing tecliniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing
complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk
characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us te draw a conclusion about the population from
which the sample is selected.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregulazities, ineluding
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capabie of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.
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el e with Ly andd regabations related 1a 3l Capaaies At 2t and UK s begislatoen. and we
cunsidered the asctent tewbhich nonecoiapliznece 1nigln hovve womiteriol efieet o Ble finmeiol stiteneints, We also
conrstdered those Lnss and regulataons tleat have o darect inpaet o tha nwocwl stateineits sweli oy the

Ll s ACt tooh, We evalunted iwanagenton!’s mcsntives and oppottuntbes by froadolent mapalation of
tlie: tinaeeized stabtvaeots Guoeluelies Hies msk al overmiade st cantrobsboaeml deternoioesd that kb prdnedpal eisksoene
relaredd te pusting povmnal eiries o mabipukee fowneinl petturouee ad Bas wathan iinmnzeioenl s extivale s
anel resumptions. d it praceduces peciornned ba o cugogenenl e ioe ludoeed:

» discussions with management, in respect of the risk of fraud and any known or suspected instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulation and fraud and reviewing Board Minutes;

¢ conftrmation with those charged with governance in respect of risk of fraud and any known or suspected
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations;

» consideration of the overall control environment and the processes and controls in place in the company,
including procedures to achieve compliance with laws and regulations; and

+ testing of journal entries posted throughout the period and at period end.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected
in the financial statements, Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk
of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealiment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, ot through collusion,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and anly for the company’s members as a body in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
«  we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for owr audit; or

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the aceounting records and returns.

‘We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

BRSPS R

Shane O’ Regan (Senior Statutery Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cork

Ireland

26 October 2023
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Dell Corporation Limited

PROFIT AND L.OSS ACCOUNT
For the flnancial year ended 3 February 2023

3 February 28 January

Notes 2023 2022
Total Total
£'000 £'000
Revenue g 3,503,501 3,138,281
Cost of sales (3,024 ,1086) {2,684,795)
Gross profit 479,385 453,486
Administration expenses {416,148) {396,138)
Operating profit 7 63,247 57,348
Profit on disposal of operations 8 — 41,739
63,247 99,087
Interest receivable and similar income 10 14,258 781
Interest payable and similar charges 10 {874) {1,046}
Net interest income/{expense) 13,384 {265)
Profit before income tax 76,631 8,822
Income tax expense 11 (8,902) (12,301)
Profit for the financial year 67,728 86,521

The company has no other income or expensas other than those included in the results and therefore no
separate statement of comprehensive income has been prepared.

The notes on pages 18 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Dell Corporation Limited

BALANCE SHEET
As at 3 February 2023

Non-current assets

Right of use assets

Tangible fixed assets

Debters - amounts falling due after one year
Cther non-current assets

Current assets

Trade and other receivables
inventory

Other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Creditors: amounts failing due within one year

Net current {liabllities)/assets

Total assets less currant liahilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Net assets

Equity

Called up share capital
Retained eamnings

Capita! contribution

Share based payment reserve

Total sharehclders’ funds

The notes on pages 18 t0 43 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On behalf of the beard

P,

S Young
Del! Corporation Limited

Registered no: 02081369

Note

12
13
14
15

186
17
15

18

19

20
20
21
22

3 February 28 January
2023 2022
E'000 £'000

10271 12,572
148,714 70,863
479,664 559,664
312,578 184,652
951,227 827,751
768,223 676,758

37,861 41,580
263,643 200,951

1,284 1,747

1,071,011 921.036
(1.322,611)  {1.060,812)
(321,600} {139,876)

629,627 687.875
(558,445) {574.645)

71,182 113,230

59,670 102,521

11,512 10,709

71,182 113,230
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Dell Corporation Limited

STATEMENT CF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 3 February 2023

Share Capital Retained Share Total
capital contribution earnings based
payment
reserve
£900 £000 £000 £'000 £000
Balance as at 30 January 2021 — 64.621 63,589 11,939 140,149
Transfar 10 retained earnings — {64,621) 64,621 — —
Distributions — — £110.000} {110,000}
Share-based payment recharge — {2210) (11,939 (14,149}
Share-based payment charge — — — 10,709 16,709
Profit for the financial year — — 86,521 — 86,521
Balance as at 28 January 2022 — — 102,521 10,709 113,230
Balance as at 29 January 2022 _ —_ 102,521 10,709 113,230
Distributions — — {100,000) — {100.000)
Share-based payment recharge - — (10,580) (10,709) (21.289)
Share-based payment charge — —_ —_ 11,512 11,512
Profit for the financial year — — 67,729 - 67,729
Batance as at 3 February 2023 — — 59,670 11,512 71,182

The notes on pages 18 to 43 are an inlegral part of these financial statements.
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Dell Corporation Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information
The Company's principal aclivity throughout the financial year was the marketing and distribution of
information technology infrasiructure under limited risk distributer agreements with other group companies.
The Company also provides certain other services for both group companies and third party custorners.

The Company is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated and domiciled in England. The
address of its registered office is st & 2nd Floor, One Creechurch Place, London, EC3A 5AF, United
Kingdom. The principal piace of business is the United Kingdom.

Dell Corperation Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of EMC Information Systems Internationat Unlimited
Company. lts ultimate parent company is Dell Technologies Inc., a corporation incorporated in the United
States of America. Dell Technologies In¢. prepares group financial statements and is both the smafiest and
largest group for which group finencial statements are drawn up, and of which EMC information Systems
international Unlimited Company is a member. As the firancial statements of Dell Corgoration Limited are
included in the consolidated financial statements of Dell Technologies nc. for the financial year ended
3 February 2023 1t is exempt, by virtue of Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006, from the requirement to
precare consolidated financial statements. Copies of Dell Technologies Inc.'s financial statements are
avatlable from Dell Technologies Inc., One Dell Way, Round Rock TX 78664, United States of America.

These financial statemenis are the company's financial statements for the finanuial year beginning
29 January 2022 and ending 3 February 2023,

2 Statement of compliance
The entity financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordarce with
accounting standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council and the Companies Act 2006. The
financial statements comply with Financial Reporting Standard 101, Reduced Disclosure Framewark {"FRS
101"} and the Companies Act 2006 {"The Act").

in preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, but makes amendments where necessary in
order {o comply with the Companies Act 2006. The cormmpany has set out below where advantage of the
FRS 101 disclosure exemptions have beern taken.

3 Going concern
The directors have considered the basis of preparation of the financial statements for the year ended
3 February 2023. The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the company is a going
concern. The company mesets its day-lo-day working capital requirsments through net cash inflow from
cperations, cash rasources and, if required, intercomgpany financing.

The balance sheet shows that the company has net assets of £E71m (2022: £113m) and net current
liabilities of £322m (2022, liabilities of £{140)m) at year-end.

In assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, the directors have {aken into account
all available information up to 31 October 2024, being at least 12 months following the approval of these
financial statements. The company’s forecasts and projections, laking account of reasonably possible
changes in trading performance, show that the company should be able 1o contirue to operate within the
ievel of its current arrangements. The directors are satisfied that a parent undertaking has indicated its
intent to provide the necessary financial supperf to enable the company to continue to meet its liabilities as
they fall due, if required. After making ali necessary enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation
thal e company has edequate resources lo cantinue in pperational existence for the foresesable future.
Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on a geing concern basis.

4 Surmmary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presentad, unless otherwise stated.
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Dell Corporation Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4 Summary of significant accounting policies-continued

Basis of preparation )

The financial statements have been preparsd under the historical cost convention as modified by the
measuremant of cerlain financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. The preparation
of financtal statements in conformity with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise 45 judgement in the process of applying the company's
accounting policies, The areas Involving 8 higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumplions and estimates have significant risk of causing a material adjusiment to the carrying amounts
of agsets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed in note 5.

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 101

FRS 101 aliows a gualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions. Dell Products is a quaiifying entity as its
ultimate parent company, Dell Technologies Inc., prepares publicly available consolidated financial
statements which are intended to give a true and fair view (of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit or foss) and Dell Products is included in the consclidated financial statements. The following
exemptions from the requirements of IFRS have been appiied in the preparation of these financial
statements, in accordance with FRS 101:

+  The requirements of IFRS 7 'Finangial instruments: Disclosures’.

+  The requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measuremant’ (disclosure of valuation
techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement of assets and liabilities}.

= The following paragraphs of 1AS 1, 'Presentation of financial statements':
— 10(d) (statement of cash flows};
— 186 (statement of compliance with all EU-adopted IFRS);
— 3BA (requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including cash flow statements);
- 38B-0 (additional comparative information).
- 40A-D (reguirements for a third statement of financial position);
— 111 {cash flow statement information), and
- 134-136 (capitai management disclosures).
*  The requirements of IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows".

+ The requirements of paragraph 30 and 31 of IAS 8 'Accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors’ (requirement for the disclosure of information when an entity has not applied a
new EU-adopted IFRS that has been issued but is not yet effective).

« The requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 ‘Related Parly Disclosures' (key managemen!
compensation).

» The regquirements of IAS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’ 1o disclose related party transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group where both parlies to the transaction are wholly owned
within the group.

« The requirements of paragraphs 130(f)(li), 130(f)ii), 134(d) to 134(f) and 135l to 135/ of IAS 36
‘Impairment of Assets'.

= Tha requirements of paragraphs 45 (b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payments’ {details of the
numbear and weighted-average exercise price of share options, and how the fair value of goods and
services received was determined). ,

= The reguirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and from paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118,
119(a) to (c), 120 10 127 and 129 is available when IFRS 15 applies.

« Paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1SAB, ‘Acvuuniing policiee, changes in accounting estimates and
errors' (requirament for the disclosure of information when an entity has nol applied a new IFRS that
has been issued but is not effectiva.)

+ The requirements of paragraph 52, the second sentence of paragraph 89, and paragraphs 90, 81 and
923 of IFRS 16 Leases.

The remaining exemptions available under the Framewaoark are not applicable to the companry at this time.

19



Deall Corporation Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
Exemptions for qualifyIng entities under FRS 101 - continued

Revenue recognition

The Company accounts for a contract with a cusiomer when it has written approval, the contract is
committed, the rights of the parties, including payment terms, are identified, the contract has commercial
substance and consideration is probable of collection.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, control of a promised product or service transfers to a customer, in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expecis {o be entitted in exchange for
transferring those products or services.

The Company's standard billing terms are that payment is due upon receipt of invoice, payable within 30
days. In determining the transaction price, the Company adjusts the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of the time value of monaey if the billing terms ars not standard and the timing of payments
agreed to by the parties to the contract provide the customer ar the Company with a significant benefit of
financing, in which case the contract contains a significant financing component. As a practical expedient,
the Company does not account for significant financing components if the period between when the
Company transfers the promised product or service to the customar and when the customer pays for that
product or service will be one year or less. Most arrangemants that contain a financing component are
financed through Dell Financing Services (separate entities) and include expticit financing terms. Income
from these financing transactions is out of the scope of (FRS 15.

The Company reports revenue net of any revenue-based taxes assessed by governmental autherities that
are imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue-producing transactions.

The Company assesses collectabilly at the inceplion of a contract. if a contract meets the collectability
criterion at contract inception, the criterion should not be reassessad unless there is an indication of a
significan! change in facis and circumstances. If consideration for an averall arrangement is not considered
collectible but cash is received, revenue cannot be recognised until there are no remaining obligations and
substantially ail of the consideralion has been received, or the contract is terminated, or the Company
stops transferring goods/services and has no obligation to transfer additional goods/services and the cash
is non-refundable in all cases.

The Company sells IT hardware, configuration/inslallation and warranty services, and third-party software
licenses and PCS to consumer, cammercial and enterprise customers. Consistent with IFRS 15 and per
Company’s revenue recognition policy, "Performance obligation that are commonly considered services
are satisfied over time as the Company is performing. Performance abligations thal are commeonly referred
fo as goods {or products) are satisfied at a point in time, once the Company has completed its obligation
and the gocds are transferred to the customer.” In additien to the aforementioned general policies, the
following are the specific revenue recognition policies for arrangements with mulliple performance
obligations and for each major category of revenue:

Revenues from IT hardware products
Performance obligaticns are satisfied at the point in {ime when the Company delivers the products o the
customer's contiol, The control transfers on delivery (FOB Destination).

Shipping is performed by the Company and is not considered {0 be a separate performance obligation to
the customer, as the conirol to the products is not transfarred to the customer before shipmaent. Shipping is
a fulfitlmen! activity as the costs are incurred as part of lransferring the products (o the customer.

Revenuos from extended/upsell warranty services

Cuslomers can purchase warranties for Hardware producis which cover a period of time., The Company
satisfies the performance abligation over time as the warranty period explres because the Company is
standing ready to provide services throughout the contract period. The customer may or may not use the
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Dell Corporation Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
Revenue recognition - centinued

Revanues from extended/upseil warranty services - confinued
feaiures of the warranty; therefore, revenue from these services is recagnised on a straight-line basis over
the warranty period.

Revenues from instaltation/canfiguration services

Customers can purchase |T Hardware thal requires customised sel-up, instaliation or configuration
services. Revenue for thess services is ganerally recognised al the time the services are performed, which
generally coincides with the timing that the product is delivered (e.g. Hardaware is installed by the
Company’s personnel upan delivery to the customer's facitity).

In limited circumstances when a hardware sale with the installation includes customer acceplance
provisions, revenue for the Installation service is recognised either when customer acceptance has been
obtained, customer acceplance pravisions have lapsed, or the Company has cbjective evidence that the
critaria spacified in the customer acceptance provisions have been satisfied.

Revenue from time-and-matenal contracts is racognised on an output basis as labour hours are delivered
and/or direct expenses are incurred. Revenue from as-a-Service type contracts, such as Infrastructure-as-
a-Service, is recognised either on a siraight-line basis or on a usage basis, depending on the terms of the
arrangement (such as whether the Company is standing ready to perform or whether the contract has
usage-based metrics). If the as-a-Service coniract includes selup activities, those promises in the
arrangement are evalualed o determine if they are distinct.

Revenues from scftware

The Company s¢lls third-party software llcenses which can be used an its |T hardware products. Based on
IFRS 18, this software is primarily functional IP, where the customer is granied a right to use lhe software
for a period of time (license period). Based on the guidance, the Company recognises these software
licenses at the point in lime that the licenses are delivered, and the customer is able to use and benefil
from the license. Adcitionally, the Company does sell third-party hosting contracts (subscriptions) that may
include software related goods and services, commonly referred to as Software as a Servica and for which
the underlying license is not considered to be distinct from the hosting services, These arrangements are
recognised over the subscription period.

The Company sslls aiso post-contract support (PCS) for third-party licenses either standalone or bundled
wilh licenses. As these services are distinct, the Company generally recognises the revenua related to
PCS over the service period on a straight-line basis because the Company is providing a service of
standing ready 1o provide support, when and if needed, and is providing unspecified software upgrades on
a when and if available basis over the contract term.

Muiliple elerment arrangements

The Campany's multiple siement arrangements generally inciude a combination of hardware products,
software and reiated post-contractual support, services such as extended warranty, instaliations,
maintenance and other services. The nature and terms of these multiple element arrangements will vary
based on the custemised needs of the Company's customers. Each of these deliverables in an
arrangement typically represents a separate performance obligation. For example, a customer may
purchase a server that includes operating system software. In addition, the arrangement may include post-
contract support for the software and a contract for post-warranly maintenance service for the hardware.
These arrangemeants tensist of muliple products and earvices, wheareby the hardware and software may
be delivered in one period and the software support and hardware maintenance services are delivered
over time.

To the extent that a product or service in multiple performance obligatian arangements is subject 1o other
specific accounting guidance, such as leasing guidance, that product or service is accounted for in
accordance with such specific guidance. For all other products or services in thess arrangements, the
criteria beiow ara considered to determine when the products or services are distinct and how to allocate
the arrangement consideration to each distinct performance obligation. A performance abligation is a
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Dell Corporation Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
Revenue recognition - continued

Muiltiple element arrangements - continused

promisé in a contract with a client to transfer products or services that are distinct. if the Company enters
into two or mere contracts at or near the same time, the contracts may be combined and accounted for as
cne contract, In which case the Company determines whether the products or services in the combined
contract are distinct. The contracts may be combined and acccunted for as ane contract if the contracts are
negotiated as a package with a single commercial objective, or the amount of consideration to be paid in
one contract depends on the price or performance of the other contract, or the goods aor services promised
in the contracts (or some gocds or services promised in each of the contracts) are a single performance
obligation.

A product or service that is promised 1o a client is distinct if both of the follawing criteria are met:

* The customer can benefit from the product or service sither on ils own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (thal is, the product or sarvice is capable of being distinct);
and

« The Company's promise tu hansfer the product or service to the client is separalely identifiable from
olher promises in the contract (that is, the product or service is distinct within the context of the
contract).

If these criteria are not met, the Company delermines an appropriate measure of progress based on the
nature of its overall promise for the single performance obligation. When products and services are distincl,
the arrangement consideration is allocated to each performance cbligation on a relative standalone selling
price basis. The revenue policies in the Services, Hardwara and/or Software sections above are then
applied to each performance obligation, as applicakis.

Determining the transaction price

If the consideration promised in & contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates the amount
to which it expects to be entitled using either the expecled value or most likely amount method. The
Company's contracts may include terms that could cause variability in the transaction price, including, for
example, rebates, volume discounts, service-level penalties, and performance bonuses or other forms of
contingent revenue.

The Company only includes estimated amounts in the transaction price to the extent it is highly probable
that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncerainty associated
with the variable consideration is rasolved. The Company may not be able to reliably estimate contingent
revenue in certain fong-term arrangements due to uncertainties that are not expected to be resclved for a
long period of time or when the Company's experience with similar types of contracts is limited. The
Company's arrangements infrequently include contingent revenue. Estimates of variable consigeration and
the determination of whether to include estimated amounis in the transaction price are based on all
information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available to the Company, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specific facis and circumstances of
each arrangement.

Allocating the transaction price to performance obligations in the confract

The Company allocates the tfransaction price to each performance obligation on a relative standalone
salling price basis. The standalone selling price (SSP) is the price at which the Company would sell a
promised product or service separately to a cuslumer. In most cosee, the Company s able t¢ establish
SSP based on the observable prices of products or services sold separately in comparable circumstances
to similar cusiomers. The Company typicaily establishes a standalone selling grice range for its products
and services, which are raassessed on a periodic basis or when facts and circurnstances change.

In cerain instances, the Company may not be abie tc establish a standalone selling price range based on
observable prices and the Company estimales the standalone selling price. The Cocmpany estimates SSP
by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to, overall market conditions, including geographic
or regional specific factors, competitive positioning, competitor actions, internal costs, profit objectives and
pricing practices. Additionally, in certain circumstances, the Company may estimate SSP for a product or

22



Dell Corporation Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

4 Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
Revenue recognition - continued

Alfccating the transaction price to performance obfigations in the contract - continued

service by applying the residual approach, This approash has been most commonly used when certain
perpetual software licenses are only sold bundled with one year of post-contract support and a price has
not been established for the software. Estimating SSP is a formal process that includes review and
approval by the Company’s management.

incremental costs of obtaining a conlract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract {e.g. sales commissions) are capitalised and amortised on a
straight-line basis over lhe contracts duration period if the Company expects to recover those costs. The
Company previously expensed these costs as incurred. Incremental costs of obtaining a contract include
only those cosis the Company incurs to obtain a contract that it would not have incurred if the contract had
not been obtained. As a practical expedient, the Company expenses costs to obtain a contract as incurred
if the amortisation pericd would have been a year or less. These costs are included in selling, general and
administrative expensas.

For contracts greater than one year in duration, the associated costs 10 obtain a contract are deferred and
amortised over the periocd of contract performance or a tonger period, generally the estimated life of the
customer relationship, if renewals are expected and the renewal commission is not commeansurate with the
initlal commission. Defarred costs to obtain a contract are typically amortised over a period of three to
seven years, depending on the contract term and expectation of the period of benefit for the costs, which
may exceed the contract term. Amortisation expense is recopnised on a slraight-line basis and included in
selling, general, and administrative expenses in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Camprehensive
Inceme.

Product warranties

The Company offers warranties for its hardware products that generally range up to three years, with the
majarily being either one or three years. Estimated costs for standard warranty terms are recognised when
revenue is recorded for the related product. The Company estimates its warranty costs standard o the
product based on historical warranty claim experience and estimates of fuiure spending and applies this
estimaile o the revenue stream for producis uncer warranty. Eslimated future cosis for warranties
applicable to revenue recognised in the current period are charged to cost of sales. The warranty liability is
reviewed quarterly 1o verify that it propery reflects the remaining obligatich based on the articipated
expenditures over the balance of the obligation period. Adjustments are made when aciual warranty claim
experience diffars from estimates. Costs from fixed-price support or maintenance cantracts, inciuding
extended warranty contracts, are recognised as incurred.

Revenue from extended warranty contracts is initially recorded as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised on a straight-line basis over the delivery period because the Company is providing a service of
standing ready 10 provide services over such term.

Research and development

The company performs research and development work for other group companies. All research and
development are recognised as expense in the period in which it is incurred. Research and development
expenses are reimbursed by group companies.

Contingencies

Contingent habtlities, arising a6 & result of paet events, arae nnt racognised as a liability because; it is not
probable that the company will be required o transfer economic benefits in setllement of the obiigation or
the amount cannot be reliably measured at the end of the financial year. Possible but uncertain obligations
are not recognised as liabililies bul are contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are disclosed in the
financial statements unless the probability of an cutflow of resources is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognised. Contingent assets are disclosed in the financial statements when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable,
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Fareign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial staternents of the company ara measured using the currency of the grimary
economic enviranment in which the company operates ('the functional currency'). The financial statements
are presented in ‘'US Dollar (3}, which is also the company’s functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the transhation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement. All cther foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit and loss within
‘ather incoma’.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Dividend income is
presanted as ‘income from investment in subsidiaries’ or 'ingome from invesiments in associated
undenaking'.

Income tax

Income tax expense for the year comprises currard and deferred tax recognised in the financial year. Tax is
recognised in the profit and loss account, except to the extent that it relates to itlems recognised in othear
comprehensive income or directly in equily. In this case, tax is also recognised in cther comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Current or deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

(i) Current tax

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior
financial years. Current lax is measured al the amount of current tax that is expected to be paid using tax
rates and laws that have been enacled or substantively enacled by the end of the financial year.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax requlation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where approprlale on the
basis of amounts expected {o be paid to the fax authorities.

(i) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of timing differences, which are differences between taxable profiis
and total preftt and loss as slated in the financial statements. Thesa timing differences arise from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in financial years differant from thase in which they
are recognised in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the end of sach financial year with ceriain
exceptions. Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only when il is probable
that they will e recovered against the reversal of deferred tax labilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each financial year and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

Deferrad tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwlll; or arise trom
initial recognition of an asset or lability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or Joss.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates {and iaws) that have been enactad or substantively enacted by

the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related defetred tax asset is realised, or the
deferred income tax liabilily is settled.
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Inceme tax - continued

{i)  Deferred tax - conlinued

Deferred tax agsets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enfarceable right 1o offset current tax
assets against current 1ax liabilities and when the assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same laxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention io seftle the balances on a nat basis.

Other operating income

Cther operating incocme comprises of income frem the provision of services to other Dell group companies
including legal, marketing, human resources, IT and other agreed services which is recorded in the period
in which the service is provided.

Government grants
Capital grants are credited to the capital grant account when the related expenditure is recorded.

Employment grants are recognised in the financial statements and credited to the profit and less account
oncea raceipt is certain. Grants towards capital expenditure are released to the profit and 1oss account over
the expected usefui life of the assets on a systematic basis.

Interest income

Interest income is racognised using the effective interest rale method. When a loan and receivable is
impaired, the company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flow discounted at the criginal effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loan and receivables is recognised using the
original effective interest rate. Interest income is presented as ‘Intarest receivable and similar income' in
the profit and loss account,

Deferred costs of customer acquisition and fulfilment

The Company accounts for hoth costs to obtain a contract for a customer, which are defined as costs that
the Company would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained, and costs to fulfil a contract
by capitaiising and systematically amortising {he assets on a basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods cr services to which the assets relate. These costs generate or enharce resources
used in satisfying performance obligations that directly relate to contracts. Applying the practical expedient
guidance, the Company recognises the incremental costs of obtaining coniracts as an expense when
incurred if the ameoertisation period of the incremental costs of obtaining contracts that the Company
otherwise would have recognised is one year or less.

The Company's customer acquisition costs are primarily attributable to sales commissions and related
fringe benefits earned by the Company's sales force and such costs are considered incremental coslis to
obtain & contract. Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and amortised taking into
considaration the pattern of transfer to which assets relate and may include expected renewal periods
where renewal commissions are net commensurate with the initial commission period. The Company
recognises the deferred commissions on a siraight-line basis over the life of the customer relationship that
is estimated to be seven years,

Additionally, the Company incurs certain costs to install and activate hardware and software used in its
managed securily services, primarily related to a portion of the compensation for the personnel who
perform the instaliation aclivities The Company makes judgments regarding the fulfilment costs to be
capitalised. Specifically, the Company capitaiises direct labour and associated fringe benetits uging
standards developed from actua!l costs and applicable operalicnal data. The Company updates the
information quarterly for items such as the estimated amount of time required 1o perform such activity. The
Company capitalises and amortises these fulfiment costs on a straight-line basis over the economic life of
the services, or approximately four years in employee benefits and staff expenses.
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Contract assets

The maijority of the Company's contract assets represent unbilled amounts related 1o services contracts,
ravanue recognised exceeds the amount billed to the customer, and the right to consideration is subject to
milestone completion or customer acceptance. Contract assets are generally ciassified as current and are
recorded on a net basis with deferred revenue {i.e, contract liabilities) at the contract level, Such amounts
have bean insignificant ta date.

Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities primarily consist of deferred revenue. Deferred revenue is recorded when the company
have a right to invoice or payments have been received for undelivered products or services, or in
situations where revenue recagntion criteria have not been met. Deferred revenue also represents
amcunts received in advance for extended warranty services and software maintenance. Revenue is
reccgnised on these items when the revenue recognition criteria are met, generally resulting in rateable
recognition over the contract term. The company aigso have deferred revenue related to undelivered
hardware and professional services, consisting of installations and consulting engagements, which are
racognised when our performance obligations under the contract are completed.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible assets are stated al cost {or deemed cost) less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes the original purchase price, costs directly attributable to bringing the
assets 1o its working condition for its intended use, dismantling and restoration costs.

Buildings and leasehold improvements
Buildings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Fixtures and fittings
Fixtures and fitlings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation and residual values
Depreciation on assets is calculated, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

+ Leasehold improvements 60 months
«  Plant and machinery 60 months
+  Furniture 60 months
+  Computer equipment 30 - 36 months

Subsequent additions and major components
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. The effect of any changa is acceunted for prospectively.

Subsequent costs, including major inspections, are included in the assets carrying amount or recognised
as a separate assei, as appropriate, only when it is probable that economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the company and the cost can be measured reliably.

Repairs, maintenance and rminor inspection costs are expensed as incurred.
Derscognition
Tangible assels are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. On

disposal, the diffarence between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit
or loss and included in “Net operating expenses".
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets nol ready io use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Asscts that are subject to amartisafion are reviewed far impairment whenaver evenls or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverabie amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Prior
impairments of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) are reviewed for possible reversal at each
reporting date.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories are recognised as an
expense in the financial year in which the related revenue is recognised. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (FIFQ) method. Cost comprises the purchase price, including taxes and duties and transport
and handiing directly atiributable to bringing the inventory to its present location and conditicn. The cost of
manufactured finished gocds and work in progress includes raw malerials, direct Iabour and a systematic
allocation of direct costs and producticn overheads (based on normal operating capacity of the production
facifity).

At the end of each financial year, inventories are assessed for impairment. If an item of inventory Is
impaired, the identlfied inventory is measured at ils selling price less costs to complete and sell and the
resulting impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a reversal of the impairment loss is
recognised, the impairment joss is reversed, up to the original impairment loss, and is recognised in the
profit ar loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assats into the foliowing measurement categories:

»  Amortised cost;
+  Fair vatue through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and
» Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The Company classifies all debt instruments as financial assets at amortised cost as it dees not have any
financizl assets at FVCCI and financial assets at FVYPL. The dassification of debt instruments depends on
the Carpany’s business model for managing the financial assets, as well as the contractual terms of the
cash flows of the financial assets. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. The
Company reclassifies debt instruments, when and only when, its business model for managing those
assets changes.

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed In profit of loss.

Subsequent measurgment
Debt instrumenis of the Company mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables (including related party receivables) and other asssts.

There are three prescribed subsequent measurement categories, depanding on the Company's business
maode! in managing the assets and the cash flow characteristic of the assets. The Company manages its
financial assets by collecting the contractual cash flow and these cash flows represents solely payment of
principal and interest. Accordingly, the Company's financial assets are measured at amortised cost
subsequent to initial recognition.
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Subsequent measurement - continued

A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subseguently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a
hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest
income from these financial assets are recognised using the effective interest rale method.

The Company assesses on forward locking basis the expected credit lossas associatad with ils debt
instruments carried at amorlised cost.

For trade and other receivables {including relateg party receivable), the Company applied the simplified
approach permitted which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables. To measure the lifetime expected credit losses, trade raceivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and aging category and measured based on historical loss rates
adjusted by forward looking estimates and individual assessment.

Derecognition
A financial asset is dereccgnised where the coniraclual right to receive cash flows from the asset has
axpired.

Creditors
Creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsaquently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds {net of transaction costs) and
the redemption vaiue is recognised in the income staterment aver the period of the borrowings using the
effactive interest mathod.

Fees paid on the establishment of lean faciiities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan 1o the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility witl be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferced
until the draw-down occurs. To the exient that there is no evidence that it is probable that seme or all of the
facility will he drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidily services and amorlised over
ihe period of the facility 1o which it relates.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use ar sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investiment income earned on the temporary investrnent of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted fram the borrowing cosis eligible for capitalisation.

All gther borrowing costs are recegnised in profit ¢r 1088 In the pariod in which they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cach and cash equivalents inclides rash in hang, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term hignly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts may anse du¢ 13 the
timing of cash flows and in that case are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. Cash and cash
equivalents are initially measured at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortisec cost.

Investments in money market funds that are classified as cash equivalents hold underlying investments

with a weighted average maturity of 0 days or less and are recognised at fair value. The valuaticns of
these securities are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets, when available, or
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Cash and cash equivalents - continued
pricing models whereby all significant inputs are observable or can be dearived from or corroborated by
abservable market data. The Company reviews security pricing and assesses liquidity on a quarterly basis.

Bank deposils which have original maturities of more than three months are not cash and cash equivaients
and are presented as current asset investments.,

Share capital presented as equity

Equity shares issued are recegnised at the proceeds received and presented as share capital and share
premiurm. Incremantal costs directly atiributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Relatad party transactions

The Company discloses transactions with related parties which are not wholly owned within the same
Group. Where appropriate. transactions of a similar nature are aggregated unless, in the opinion of the
directors, separate disclosure is necessary to understand the effect of the transactions on the financial
statemsnts.

Emplayee benafits

The Company provides a range of benefits to employees, including short term employee benefits such as
annual bonus arrangements and paid holiday arrangements and post-employment benefits (in the form of
a defined contribution pension plan).

Shert term employee benrefits

Short term employee benefits, including paid holiday arrangemenis and other similar non-monetary
benefits, are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which employaes render the related service.
The Company operates an annual bonus plan for employees. An expense is recognised in the profit and
loss account when the comparny has a present legal or constructive obligation to make paymants under the
ptan as a result of past events and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Post-empioyment benefits

The Cempany operates a defined contribution plan for cenain empioyees. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and has no legal or
constructive abligatian to pay further contributions or to make direct benefit payments to employees if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relaling to employee service in the current
and prior periods. The assets of the plan are held separately from the company in independently
administered funds. The contributions to the defined contribution plan are recognised as an expense when
they are due. Amounts not pald are shown in accruals in the balance sheet. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Cash based long-term incentive plan

The Caompany operates a iong-term incentive (LTI} plan for its employees. The programme is designed to
drive the long-term growth of the company and generally vests over a period of 3 years within 1/3 vesting
annually on the date of grant. The LT! expense is amortised over the entire vest period. Amounts not paid
are recorded as accruals at the balance sheet date. The LTI award is determined by employees’ target
incentives and Dell Performance Indicators.

Distributions to equity shareholders

Dividends and other distributions to company's equily sharehclders are recognised as a liability in the
financial statements in the financial year in which the dividends and other distributions are approved by (he
company's shareholders,
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Share-based payments

The company operates a number of equily-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the
conpany receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments (cptions) of Dell
Technologies Inc.. The awards are granted by Dell Technologies Inc, and the company has no obligation to
settle the awards. The fair value of the employee services raceived in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense, A credit is recognised directly to the share-based payment reserve. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

+ Including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity's share price);

*  Excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting condtions (for example,
profilability, sales growth targets, and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time periad};
and

* Inciuding the impact of any nen-vesting conditions (for example, the reguirement for employees to
save). Nan-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected 1o vest.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which alt of the specifiad
vesting conditions are {o be satisfled. In addition, in some circumstances, employses mighl provide
services in advance of the grant date, and so the grant date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recogniging the expense during the period between service commencemant and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the company revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where recharges from group companies are linked to the share-based awards the company records those
recharges as an offset fo the “share-bpased payment reserve”. Where the intercompany recharges
exceaded the capital contrigution that excess is treated as a distribution.

Leases
Leases are recognised as right-cf-use assets and corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
assets are availabla for use by the Company.

The right-of-use assets is presented separately in the statement of financial position, except for right-of-use
assets that meet the definilion of investmeant property and which is presented in statement of financial
position in separate line item - “investment propery”.

Al the commencement date, lease liabilities are measured at an amount equal to the present value of the
following fease payments for the underlying right-of-use assals during the lease term:

v fixed payments (including in-substance fixad payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

« variable [gase payments that are based on an index or a rate;

+ amounis expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees;

*  the exsrcise price of a purchase opticn if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option;

+ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising
that opfien.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily
determined, or the Company's incremmental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liabllity and finance cosl. Lease labilities are subsequently measured using the effective interest method.
The carrying amount of liability is remeasured to reflect any reassessment, lease modification or revised in-
substance fixed payments. The lease term is a non-cancellable pericd of a lease; periods covered by
options o extend and terminate the lease are only included in the lease term if it is reascnably certain that
the lease will be axtended or not terminated.
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Leases - continuad
Right-of-use assets are measured initially at cost comprising the following:

» the amount of {he initial measurement of the lease liability;

« any lease payments made at or before the commencernent date, less any lease incentives received;
+ any initial direct costs;

« resioration costs.

Subsequently, the right-of-use assets, are measured at cost tess accumulaled depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for remeasurement of the lease liability due to reassessment
or lease modifications.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the assets' useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. The amortisation pericds for the right-of-use assets are as follows;

+ right of use for the office building 1 - 6 years.

Payments associated with ail short-term leases and certain jeases of iow-value assels are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. The Company applies the exemption for low-value assets
on a lease-by-iease basis, i.e. for the leases where the asset is sub-leased, a right-of-use asset is
recognised with corresponding lease liability; for all other leases of low value assets, the lease payments
associated with those leases are recognised as an expanse on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Accounting policies applied untif 3 February 2023

Leases in which substantially all risks and rewards of ownership are noi transferred o the Company as a
lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Where the Company is a lessee in a lease, which transferred substantially ali risks and rewards incidental
to ownership to the Company, the assets ieased are capitalised in premises and equipment at the
commencement of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset, and the present value of the
minirmum lease payments.

The Company’s leasing acliviies and how they are accounted for

The Company leases office buildings and parking spaces. Rental contracls are typically made for fixed
periods of 1 to 6 years but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The main tease features are summarised
below:

+ Properties are rented for a period of 1 to 6 years, with a canceilation period. Caontracts contain an
option to renew the lease. The lease payments are fixed and adjusteg for inftatian.

The iease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may nol be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The future cash outflows to which the Company as a lessee is potentially exposed that are not reflected in
the measurement of tha lease liabllity arise from;

* variable lease payments
- extension and termination options

The Company does not provide any residual value guarantees.
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Variable lease payments

Properties {offices etc.) lease contracts contain variable payment terms that are linkad to expenses related
to maintenance of the rented properties (electricity, heating, etc.) which are measured based on actual
expenditure.

Office buildings, global logistics and other buildings are considered as separate asset classas under IFRS
16 as they are different types of real estate properties and have different risk profiles. The Company
combines lease and non-lease components for office buildings and separates lease and non-lease
components for global logistics and other buildings. The Company combines lease and non-lease
components for vehicles and separates lease and non-lease components for equipment. Variable iease
paymenis that depeng on actual expenditure are recognised in prafit or loss in the period in which the
condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Variable lease payment larms are used for a varlety of reasons, and the primary reason is to reflect the
actual usage of the underlying asset.

Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing aor amount.

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or gonstructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount of the abligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are measured al the present value of the best estimate of the amount required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments ¢f the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation. The unwinding of the
discount is reécognised as a finance cost in profit or loss, presented as part of ‘interest payable and similar
charges’ in the financial year in which it arises.

Where thare are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in setilement
is determined by considering the class of otligations as a whole,

Ire particular:

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or ¢onstructive obtigation at the
end of the financial year e carry out the restructuring. The Company has a constructive ohligation to carry
out a restructuring when there is a detailed, formal plan for the restructuring and the company has raised a
valid expectation in those affected by either starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features
to those affecled.

Provisions are not made for future operating losses.

Corresponding amounts
Certain comresponding amounts have been adjusted so they are directly comparable with the amounis
shown in respect of the current financial year.

5 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Company makes estimates and assumpticns concerning the future. The resulting accounting
astimates will, by definition, saldom equal the related actua! results. The estimatas and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the nexti Tinancial year are addressed below:

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other

factors, including expectations of future events that are befieved to be reasconable under the
circumstances.
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{a) Revenue recognition- allocation of transaction price to performance obligations

The company allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contracl. When a contract
mciudes mulliple performance cbligationg, the transactinn price is allocated to each performance obligation
in an amount that cepicts the consideration to which the company expect to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised goods or services. For contracts with multiple performance cbligations, the
transaction price is allocated in proportion to the standalone seiling price ("SSP") of each performance
obligation. The best evidence of S8P is the observable price of 8 good or service when the company sell
thal good cr service separately in similar circumstances to similar customers. If a directly observable price
is available, the company utilise that price for the SSP. If a directly observable price is not available, the
SSP must be estimated. The company estimate SSP by considering multiple factors, including, but not
limited to, pricing practices, internal costs, and profit objectives as well as ovarail market conditions, which
include geographic or regional specific factors, competitive positioning, and competitor actions.

(b) Deferred commission costs and deferred fulfilment costs

The Company capitalises deferred commission and fulfilment cost related with the acquisition of pew
business and applicable installation activities. These deferred costs are amortised on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the geods or services to which the assets relate,
which 1s estimated to be 5 years for deferred commission costs and 3 to 5 years for deferred fulfilment
costs.

6 Revenue

3 February 28 January

2023 2022
The analysis of revenue by category all of which originates in the UK, is as
follows: E'000 £'000
The analysis of revenue by calegory is as follows:
Hardwars 2.924,848 2,686,621
Software 473,464 364,809
Professional services 17.325 8,637
Service fee 87,864 78,144

3,503,501 3,138,281

{iy  Contract assels
The compary has recognised the following assets resulting from deferred cost of goods sold related to
contracts with customers.

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'000 £000

Shori-term coniract assets 253 513 163,419
Long-term contract assels 299,231 171,845
562 744 365,364
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6 Revenue - continued

(i)  Liabilities related fo coniracts with customers
The campany has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with customers.

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Short-term contract liabilities 753,868 554,082
550,600 563,358

I ong-term contract liabilities
1,304,468 1,117,410

(i) Revenus recogrised in relation te coniract liabilities
The following tabte shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporling pericd ralates o

carried-forward contract liabilities.

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'000 £000

Praduct 510,333 442 368
Services 131,264 171,708
641,597 614,076

{iv}  Assets recognised from costs incurred to fulfil a conlract
In addition o the contract balances disciosed above, the company has also recagnised an asset in relaticn

to cost to fulfil a conlract.
3 February 28 January

2023 2022
£'000 £000
Assel recognised from costs to obtain a contract 578,221 385,603
Amortisaticn recognised as cost of providing services during the period 195,755 108,590
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7 Operating profit

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'00¢ £'000
Cperating profit is stated after charging/{crediting}:
Depreciation - tangible assels (ncte13) 29,294 20,028
Deapraciation - right of use assets (note12) 4 637 3,364
Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities 7.707 3,881
Loss on disposals uf assels 1,265 2,099
Amortisation of contract assets 195,755 109,550
Expense relating to short term leases 1,679 2,659
Audit fees payable to the company's auditor
—  Audit of the financial statements 177 160
Bad debt expense 1,753 622
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (7.755) {5,652)

8 Disposal of trade assets and liabilities
Gn 1 May 2021, Dell Technolcgies Inc. entered into a stock purchase agreement with Bayshcre Holdings

2021 L.P. to sell ali of the issued and oulstanding membership interesis of Boomi LLC. The transaction
was closed on 30 September 2021. As part of this transaction the Company disposed of part of its
business far consideration of £39.8m. The gain on the sale recorded on the inceme statemant as profit
from disposals of operations is £41.7m. Dell Corperation acted as an agent for Boemi, recording a refarral
fee of 2.5% as a commission in respect of sales made. The amount of this referral fee in the financial
period to 30 September 2021 was £1.1m (2020:0.9mj).

The following table sets out the book values of the identifiable net assets disposed of and their net bock

value:
Book value
£'000
Fixed assets 5
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year (1,949)
Net liabilities disposed (1,844)
39,795

Consideration received

Gain on disposal 41,739

8 Employees and directors

Employees
The average monthly number of persons (including executive directors) employed during the year was:
2023 2022
No No
By activity:
Sales 1.022 1,007
Administration 428 483
Operations 763 730
2,213 2,220
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9 Employees and directors - continued

3 February 28 January

2023 2022
Employee costs £'000 £'000
Wages and salaries 263,840 251,338
Social securily costs 49,446 46,750
Share-based payment expense 11,512 10,709
Defined contribution pension costs 16,695 15,310
341,493 324,107
Directors emoluments £000 £000
Aggregate emolumaents 2,407 2,054
Of which:
Amounts received under long term incentive schemes — —
Company pension cantributions to defined contribution scheme 58 —

During the year, two directors (2022: three) exercised share options in the amount of £999% (2022: £589K)
in the ultimate parent company and two directors (2022: none} accrued benefits unrder a defined

contribution pension scheme.

BDuring the financial year, C Garcia was paid by Dell Marketing LP for his services and did not receive any
remuneration for his services as director of Dell Corporation Limited. All services provided by C Garcia
were of a non-executive nature and zil emoluments are deemed to be wholly atiributable to services
provided to the ultimate parent company. Accordingly, the above details inciude no emoluments in respect

of this director.

3 February 28 January

2023 2022
Highest Pald director: £'000 F£000
Aggregate emoluments 1,030 830

The highest paid director exercised share options in the amount of £169,630 and accrued benefits under
this schema in the year in the amount of £7,500.

10 Net interest income/l{expense}

3 February 28 January

2023 2022
£'00Q £'000
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest receivable on loans owed by group undertakings 14,258 781
Interest payable and similar charges
fnterest charges for lease liabilities (727) (828)
Interest expense and other similar expense items {147) {220)
Origination and reversal of liming difference (874) (1,048)
Net interest income/(expense) 13,384 {265)
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11 Income tax expense

3 February 28 January

2023 2022
{a) Tax expense included in profit or loss £'000 £'00C
Current tax:
United Kingdom ¢orporation tax on profit for the financial year —_ 5,592
Adjustment in respect of prior years {56} 2,305
Foreign tax a9 40
Total current tax 33 7,937
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of iming difference ' 8,869 4 364
Total deferred tax charge 8,869 4,364
Tax charge on profit 8,902 12,301

(b) Reconciliation of tax charge
The tax assessed for the year is different than the standard rate cf corporation tax in the UK for the
financial year ended 3 February 2023, The differences ara set below:

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'060 £'000
Profit before taxation 76,631 98,822
Profit before taxation mulliplied by the standard rate in the UK of 19%
(2022: 19%) 14,560 18,776
Effects of:
Expenses not deduciible for tax purposes 2,378 2,133
Schedule 23 deduction {4.044) (2,442)
Other non-taxabie income — (7,931)
Seclion 52 deduction & depreciation an ineligible assets {5,1186) (1.215)
Fixed Asset timing differences 3,224 674
Under/{Qver) provision for previous periods (56) 2,305
Fareign tax 89 40
Losses and colher deductions (losses) (2,133) —
Double tax relief — {39)
Total tax charge for the year 8,902 12,301

in the Budget 2020, the government announced that the corporation tax main rate (for all profits except
ring fence profits) for the years starting 1 April 2020 and 2021 would remain at 19%. In the Spring Budget
2021, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate weould increase io
25% (rather than remalning at 19%, as previousty snactod). This new law was suhstantively epacted on 24
May 2021. In the Autumn Staterment in November 2022, the government confirmed the increase in
corporation tax rate to 25% from Agpril 2023 will go ahead.

37



Dell Corporation Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued

12

Right of use
£'000
Cost
At 29 January 2022 21,663
Modifications 2,336
At 3 February 2023 23,989
Accumulated depreciation
Al 28 January 2022 (9.081)
Charge for the year (4,637)
Al 3 February 2023 (13,718)
Net book amounts
At 29 January 2022 12,572
At 3 February 2023 10,271
13 Tangible fixed assets
Buildings
and Fixtures
leasehold and
improvement Fittings Total
£'000 £'000 £000
At 29 January 2022
Cost 7.854 140,362 148,218
Accumuiated depreciation and impairment (6,193) (71,160} {77.353)
Net book amount 1,661 69,202 70,863
Year ended 3 February 2023
Open net book amount 1,667 €9,202 70,863
Additions 3,546 104,864 108,410
Disposals — {1265} (1,265}
Depreciation (433) (28,861) (29.284)
Closing net book amount 4,774 143,940 148 714
At 3 Fobruary 2023
Cost 19171 238,581 249,752
Accumulated depreciation and impairmer {6,397) (64,641} (101,038)
Net book amount 4,774 143,840 148,714

Right of use assets

The company leases office space, comprised of a number of floors at its primary located office. The
amounts recognised in the financial statements in relation Lo the leases are as follows:

During the financial year, the company disposed fixtures and fittings of £1.3m with a2 cost of £6.9m and
associated accumulated depreciation of £5.6m for proceeds of £0 resulting in a loss from disposals of £1,3m.
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14 Debtors - amount falling due after cne year

3 February 28 January

2023 2022
£000 £'000
Amounts owed by groug undertakings - loan receivable 479,564 559,664

Unsecured term loan with Dell Global B.V. of £480m (2022: £56Cm}. The loan is due {o be repaid in full within
3 years from the effective date of 27 January 2022. Interest is earned at the t year SONIA rate plus 32 basis

points,
15 Other current assets

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Deferred costs 253,513 193,419
Deferred sales commission 10,130 7,532
263,643 200,951

Qther non-current assets 3 February 28 January
2023 2022

£000 £'000

Deferred costs 289,231 171,945
Deferred sales commission 13.347 12,707
312,578 184,652

The Company capitalises a significant portion of its commission expense and related fringe benefils earned by
its sales personnel, related to the acquisition of new business.

Additionaily, the Company capitalises cerlain costs to install and activate hardware and software used in its
managed security services, primarily related to a portion of the compensation for the personnel who perform
the installaton activities. Thase deferred costs are amortised on a systemaltic basis that is consistent with the
fransfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

There were no material impairment losses incurred during the period.

16 Trade and other receivables

3 February 28 January

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Trade receivables (N 476,287 391,090
Oiher receivables 11,801 17,5836
Prepaymants 20,183 17.771
Amounts owed by group undertakings - trade balances {ii) 259,952 248,360
Deferred tax (liability) fassets 18(iii) — 1,896
768,223 676,759

Trade receivables of £453k (2022: £Nil) fall due after more than one year.
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16

(i)

(i}

17

Trade and other recaivables - contlnued

Trade debtors are stated after a provision for impairment of £3.6m (2022: £2.7m). The company applies
the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifelime expected loss
allowance for contract assets. To measure the expected credit losses, contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate mainly to the
unbllled work in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The company therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trage
receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets. The expected loss
rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a pericd of 38 months from 3 February 2023 aor
28 January 2022 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this pericd.
The historical loss rates are adjusied to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the abitity of the customers to settle the receivables. The company has identified the GDP
and the employment rate of the country in which it sells its goods and services to the most reievant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Included within amounts cwed by group undertakings is a palance of £130m under cash pooling
arrangements, which charged on average 1.26% interest rate during financial year ended 3 February 2023
(2022 no interest). All other amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Inventory
3 February 28 January
2023 2022
£000 £000
Finished products - goods in fransit 37.861 11,580

Inveniory is stated after a provision for impairment of £Nil (2022: £Nil}.

18

(i)

(i)

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

3 Fetrruary 28 January

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Trade creditors (i) 49 126 57,630
Amounts owed 1o group undertakings - trade balances () 431,115 320,935
Taxatian 73,382 31,848
Soclal security G 248 9,672
Accruzls 81,779 80,367
Lease liabilities 5,651 4,330
Cther creditors 1,569 2,078
Deferred tax liabifity 6,873 —
Deferred revenue 753,868 554,052

1,392,811 1,080,912

Trade and other creditors' are payabie at various dates in the three months after the end of the financial
year in accordance with the creditars usua! and customary credit terms.

Amounts owed (o group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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18 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year - continued

(i} The company has recognised deferred tax liabilities which arise largely in
differences.

Short-term timing differences
Excess depraciation over capital allowances
Total deferred tax assel/(liability)

At beginning of financial year

Prior year adjustment

Deferred tax (charge) in profit and loss account
At end of financial year

19 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Defarred revenue
Lease liabilities

respect of fixed asset timing

20 Capital and reserves

102 Ordinary shares of £1 each
Allotted and fuily paid
At 03 February 2023

3 February 28 January
2023 2022
£000 £'000C

{6,873) 1,986
(8,873) 1,996
1,996 6,360
— (137}
(8,869) (4,227)
(6,873) 1,996
3 February 28 January
2023 2022
£'000 £0D0

550,600 563,358

7.845 11,287
558,445 574 645
2023 2022
£ £

102 102

There is a single class of eguily shares. There are no restrictions on the distrizulion of dividends and the
repayment of capital. All shares carry equal voting rights and rank for dividends to the exient fo which the

total amount on each share is paid up.
A description of each reserve within equity is as foliows:

Retained earnings

Retained earnings account represents accumulaied comprehansive income for the financial year ang prior

financial years.
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21 Capital contribution

3 February, 28 January,

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

At beginning of financial year — 64,621
Transfer to retained earnings — {64,621

Al end of financial year — —

(i) On 31 May 2019 Dell International Holdings IX BV, made a capital contribution of £23.9m to the company
in the form of the entire share capital of VCE Solutions Limited. Subsequently, on 26 June 202¢, VCE
Solutions Limited paid a dividend of £23.9m to the compeany, this has been recorded as a return on
capital {Nota 15).

(i) On 31 Oclober 2019 Dell Global GV, made a capital contribution of £160.7m to the company in the form
forgiveness of an intercompany payabte balance. The cenfribution was made in connection with the
acquisition of EMC Computer Systems (UK) and EMC Consulting UK Limited.

{iii) During the year ended 31 January 2020, £120m was transferred from the capital contribution account to
retained earnings. During the prior year, the remaining £64.6m was transferred to retained earnings.

22 Share based payment reserve

Dell Tech granted long-term incentive awards in the form of service-based RSUs and performance-based
RSUs ("PSUs") in order to align critical talent retention pregrams with the interests of holders of Dell Tech's
Class C Common Stock. The majority of RSUs granted ara lime based (i.e. with a 3 year service condition),
but the remainder consisting of performance based RSUs {"PSUs").

All service-based RSUs and PSUs subject to internal financial metrics vest over a three-year pericd, and have
a fair value based on the closing price of Dell Tech’s Class C Commion Stock price as reported on the NYSE
on the grant date or the trade day immediately preceding the grant date, if the grant date fails on a non-trading
day. Each service-based RSU represents the right to acquire one share of Dell Tech's Class C Common Stock
upon vesting.

PSUs are reflected as target units while the actuai number of units that ultimately vest wili range from 0% to
200% of target. based on the level of achievement of the performance goals and continued employment with
the Company over a three-year performance pericd. PSUs that are subject to achievement of market-based
performance goals based on relative total shareholder return are valued using a Mente Carlo valuation model
o simulate the probabilities of achievement.

During the financial year ended as of 3 February 2023 the company recorded a share-based payment
expense in amount of £11.6m (2022: £10.7m} in respect of these awards.

During the financial year ended as of 3 February 2023 the company received an intercompany cross charge in
respect of share-based payment in amount of £21.3m (2022: £14.1m) in respect of these awards.

At the end of the financial year, there were 783,620 (2022: 988,998) Dell Technologies non-vested restricted
stock units amounting to £26.3m (2022: £22m).
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23 Post balance sheet eventis

On 20 Oclobar 2023, the directors proposed and the shareholder declared a dividend of £58m. The dividend
was approvec lo be paid to the parent company, EMC Information Systems International Unlimited Company
(2022: £100m).

On the 11 August 2023, Delt Corporation Limited acguired the assets, liabilities and irade of Moogsoft Limited
in the amount of circa £2m.

There have been no other significant events affecting the company since the year-end.
24 Approval of financial gtatgmants

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 October
2023 and were signed on its behalf on that date.
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